# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN AQUINO,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. INTRODUCTION

To convict Mr. Aquino of second degree identity theft, the toconvict instructions required the jury to find an additional element.

Because the State failed to prove the additional element, Mr. Aquino's
conviction for that offense should be reversed for insufficient evidence.

His convictions for bail jumping should also be reversed because the
charging document was deficient as to those charges. Lastly, his
conviction for fraud should be reversed because the trial court improperly
denied Mr. Aquino's motion to dismiss for governmental misconduct and
discovery violations.

#### **B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. In violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States

  Constitution and article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution, insufficient

  evidence supports the conviction for identity theft.
- 2. In violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States

  Constitution and article I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, the

  charging document did not provide adequate notice of all the elements of
  bail jumping in both counts.
- 3. In violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, article I, § 3 of the Washington Constitution, and CrR 4.7(a)(3), the State failed to turn over exculpatory evidence to Mr. Aquino.

4. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Aquino's motion to dismiss for governmental misconduct and violation of the discovery rules.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The law of the case doctrine requires the State to prove all elements in a to-convict instruction. The to-convict instruction on identity theft in the second degree required the State to prove that Mr. Aquino did not obtain anything of value through his use of identifying information. While Mr. Aquino unsuccessfully attempted to cash a check with identifying information of another person, the State did not prove that Mr. Aquino obtained nothing of value from the identifying information. Should Mr. Aquino's conviction for identity theft be reversed?
- 2. A charging document must fairly allege all essential elements. An essential element of bail jumping is proof that the defendant had notice of the required court appearance and that the defendant knowingly missed this court appearance. The charging document alleged that Mr. Aquino had notice of subsequent appearances before "any court" in Washington and that he failed to appear on January 22, 2015 and March 18, 2015. The document did not allege that Mr. Aquino knew he had to appear in court on these dates. Neither did they allege that these court appearances were in Pierce County Superior Court. Was the information on these two charges constitutionally defective?

3. The State is constitutionally obligated to turn over exculpatory evidence, including impeachment evidence, to the defense. The State failed to disclose evidence that the arresting officer had been dishonest in an earlier case. The officer had alleged that a defendant had tried to run him over, but surveillance video showed otherwise and the prosecutor dismissed the charge of assault. When this evidence came to light, trial was about to start and counsel did not have time to investigate further. Did the trial court err in denying Mr. Aquino's motion to dismiss for governmental misconduct and violation of the discovery rules? Alternatively, did the trial court err in not suppressing the arresting officer's testimony?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Aquino was at the Emerald Queen Casino on October 3, 2014. RP 88, 90, 100. Mr. Aquino went to the "cage" and asked to cash a check for \$1,900.24. RP 90; Ex. 1. The check was issued by Paint Smith Company, however the word "COMPANY" was misspelled "COPMANY." Ex. 1. Mr. Aquino provided his identification. RP 90. The cashier, who was a new employee, passed the check to his supervisor to verify it. RP 91, 95, 101. The supervisor noticed deficiencies in the check that called its validity into question. RP 100. She took the check to her supervisors for evaluation. RP 100. As this was happening, Mr.

Aquino waited patiently, asking if it always took this long to cash a check.

RP 92-93, 96-97; Ex. 2.1

The Puyallup Tribal Police were dispatched to investigate. RP 110, 114. Officer Gary Tracy contacted Mr. Aquino. RP 116. According to Officer Tracy, he immediately advised Mr. Aquino of his Miranda<sup>2</sup> rights. RP 117; CP 108. Mr. Aquino then answered questions about the check. RP 118. In his report, Officer Tracy did not quote what Mr. Aquino said in response to his questioning, other than that he answered "yes" in response to the Miranda warnings. RP 136-38. He did not offer Mr. Aquino the opportunity to provide a written statement. RP 141. Rather, Officer Tracy summarized his interaction with Mr. Aquino, recounting that Mr. Aquino said he was employed by the company that had issued the check, but then clarified he worked for a subcontractor. RP 118. Mr. Aquino was unable to provide details on how much he made per hour or where his last job site was located. RP 118. After about ten minutes, Officer Tracy arrested Mr. Aquino. RP 119; Ex. 2.

An employee of Paint Smith Company, who was responsible for issuing checks, testified that the check appeared to have been issued by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This exhibit contains video footage from the casino.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

her company. RP 132. She did not testify about the misspelling of "Company" on the check. RP 131-34; Ex. 1. Based on the check's number, however, she believed the check had originally been made out to "PCI Performance Contracting." RP 132. The check appeared altered to her. RP 133. The check had been issued for about \$498, not \$1,900.24. RP 133; Ex. 1. The employee did not know who Mr. Aquino was. RP 133-34.

Mr. Aquino was charged with identity theft in the second degree, forgery, and two counts of bail jumping for failing to appear for court dates on January 22, 2015 and March 18, 2015. CP 4-6. Following a CrR 3.5 hearing on June 25, 2015, Mr. Aquino moved to dismiss for discovery violations. CP 7-23. The court denied his motion. RP 34, 47, 50. Mr. Aquino was found guilty as charged. RP 232-33.

#### E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The State failed to prove that Mr. Aquino committed identity theft.
  - a. The State bears the heavy burden of proving every element the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

The State bears the burden of proving all the elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Rich, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, 365 P.3d 746, 749 (2016); Const. art. I, § 3. Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, a trier

of fact could find all elements of the crime were proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Rich, 365 P.3d at 749. Any inferences drawn from the evidence must be reasonable and not speculative. Id.

b. Under the law of the case doctrine, the State was required to prove that Mr. Aquino, through his possession or use of identifying information, either obtained something valued at \$1,500 or less, or that he did not obtain anything at all.

The identity theft statute reads:

- (1) No person may knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person, living or dead, with the intent to commit, or to aid or abet, any crime.
- (2) Violation of this section when the accused or an accomplice violates subsection (1) of this section and obtains credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value in excess of one thousand five hundred dollars in value shall constitute identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the first degree is a class B felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.
- (3) A person is guilty of identity theft in the second degree when he or she violates subsection (1) of this section under circumstances not amounting to identity theft in the first degree. Identity theft in the second degree is a class C felony punishable according to chapter 9A.20 RCW.

RCW 9.35.020.

Under this language, the elements of first and second degree identity theft are the same, except that the crime is raised to the

first degree when the violation involves items of value in excess of \$1,500. See State v. Sells, 166 Wn. App. 918, 923, 271 P.3d 952 (2012).

The note on use for the pattern jury instruction pertaining to second degree identity theft recommends that language specifying the \$1,500 threshold "should be used only for cases in which the crime of second degree theft is submitted to the jury as a lesser offense, when the crime needs to be distinguished from the greater offense." 11A WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 131.06 note on use at 561 (3d ed. 2008). Otherwise, the instruction for second degree identity theft should simply track RCW 9.35.020(1).

Here, second degree identity theft was not submitted as a lesser offense. Still, the State proposed a to-convict instruction including this element. RP 202-203. Mr. Aquino did not object. RP 202-03. The trial court accepted this instruction. RP 206; CP 58. As a result, the to-convict instruction for identity theft required the jury to find an extra element referring to the \$1,500 threshold:

To convict the defendant of Identity Theft in the Second Degree as charged in Count I, the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about 3rd day of October, 2014, the defendant knowingly obtained, possessed, or

- transferred, or used a means of identification or financial information of another person;
- (2) That the defendant acted with the intent to commit or aid or abet any crime;
- (3) That the defendant obtained credit, money, goods, services, or anything else that is \$1500 or less in value from the acts described in element (1) or did not obtain any credit, money, goods, services, or other items of value; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

#### CP 58 (emphasis added)

If an additional element is included in a to-convict instruction without objection, the State assumes the burden of proving the added element. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102-03, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). This is the law of case doctrine. Id. at 102. "The law of the case is an established doctrine with roots reaching back to the earliest days of statehood." Id. at 101. Hence, in the late 19th century, the Washington Supreme Court held "whether the instruction in question was rightfully or wrongfully given, it was binding and conclusive upon the jury, and

Park Transit Co., 15 Wash. 176, 180, 45 P. 743, 46 P. 407 (1896). The doctrine finds special support in the Washington Constitution, which provides that judges "shall declare the law." Const. art. I, § 16; see id. at 185 (discussing provision in connection with the doctrine).

c. The State failed to prove Mr. Aquino obtained something valued at less than \$1,500 or that he did not obtain anything of value at all through his possession or use of the identifying information.

Hence, under the law of the case doctrine, the State assumed the burden of proving that Mr. Aquino, through his use or possession of identifying information, obtained something valued at \$1500 or less, *or that he obtained nothing of value*. The State was required to affirmatively prove this negative beyond a reasonable doubt. The State did not overcome this significant hurdle.

The State presented evidence showing that Mr. Aquino tried to cash the check (which contained the identifying information) at the casino and that the teller did not cash it. However, contrary to the prosecutor's closing argument, RP 213, this does not prove that Mr. Aquino obtained nothing of any value from his possession or use of the identifying information. The lack of evidence does not prove this requirement. It would be illogical to conclude that the absence of evidence on this point

necessarily proves it beyond a reasonable doubt. For example, a lack of evidence that the sun rose this morning does not prove that the sun did not rise. In other words, the absence of evidence is generally not evidence of absence. Hence, contrary to the prosecutor's conclusory assertions during closing argument, we do not "know that [Mr. Aquino] didn't get anything." RP 213. We also do not "know that [Mr. Aquino] did not obtain anything of value." RP 213. The prosecutor's arguments were speculative. Speculation is not proof beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 18, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).

The evidence did not establish that Mr. Aquino obtained something valued at less than \$1,500 or that he did not obtain anything of value at all through his possession or use of the identifying information. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the conviction and order the charge dismissed. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d at 106.

- 2. The charging document alleging two counts of bail jumping was constitutionally deficient.
  - a. A charging document must include all the elements of the offense.

To afford notice to a defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation, the State must include all the essential elements of the crime in the charging document. <u>State v. Kjorsvik</u>, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991); Const. art. I, § 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI. When hearing a

challenge to the sufficiency of the information for the first time on appeal, the court liberally construes the document, and analyzes whether "the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document?" Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105. If the court does not find the missing element, prejudice is presumed and reversal is required. State v. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425-26, 998 P.2d 296 (2000). If the element is found, the court analyzes whether the defendant was actually prejudiced by the inartful language. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 106; McCarty, 140 Wn.2d at 425.

b. The charging document alleging bail jumping omitted the requirement that the State must prove that the defendant had knowledge of the requirement to appear before a particular court on a particular date.

Mr. Aquino was charged with bail jumping. RCW 9A.76.170(1). The statutory language of this offense includes a knowledge element:

Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with <u>knowledge</u> of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

RCW 9A.76.170(1) (emphasis added). As interpreted, this knowledge requirement means that the State must prove that the defendant knew he was required to appear on *the specific date* for which he did not appear.

State v. Cardwell, 155 Wn. App. 41, 47, 226 P.3d 243 (2010) ("In order to meet the knowledge requirement of the statute, the State is required to prove that a defendant has been given notice of the required court dates."), remanded on other grounds, 172 Wn.2d 1003, 257 P.3d 1114 (2011); State v. Ball, 97 Wn. App. 534, 535-36, 987 P.2d 632 (1999) (State must prove that the defendant knew he was required to appear at the scheduled hearing).

Mr. Aquino did not appear in Pierce County Superior Court on January 22, 2015 or on March 18, 2015. These were the bases for the two bail jumping charges. Both counts, however, failed to allege that Mr. Aquino knew he was supposed to appear in *Pierce County Superior Court* on either *January 22, 2015* or *March 18, 2015*:

That JOHN PALACIO AQUINO, in the State of Washington, on or about the 22nd day of January, 2015, did unlawfully and feloniously, having been held for, charged with, or convicted of Identity Theft in the Second Degree and/or Forgery, a class "B" or "C" felony, and been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court in this state, fail to appear as required, contrary to RCW 9A.76.170(1), (3),(c), and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 5 (count III) (emphasis added). The language used in the second bail jumping count was identical except as to the date, "18th day of March, 2015." CP 5-6 (count IV).

The generic language, having "been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court in this state," did not tell Mr. Aquino that the State must prove that he *knew* he was supposed to appear *in Pierce County Superior Court* on *January 22, 2015* and *March 18, 2015*. Fairly read, the language only told him that he had been released or admitted to bail with knowledge of a requirement to appear at a later *unspecified date* before an *unspecified Washington court*.

Proving these alleged facts would be insufficient to convict Mr. Aquino of bail jumping, as <u>Cardwell</u> illustrates. There, the defendant was charged for bail jumping after not appearing for his court date on December 14, 2005. This Court rejected the State's argument that it only had to prove that the defendant knew he had to appear "some time in the future," rather than the actual court hearing date of December 14, 2005:

At trial, the State maintained that as long as Cardwell knew that he would have to appear at some time in the future, it did not have to prove that he knew about the December 14, 2005 court hearing date. We disagree. Not only does the record establish that at the time of his release Cardwell's obligation to appear was contingent on the State's filing criminal charges before December 7, 2005, a future event that might not occur, there is no evidence that he had been given notice of the required court date. In order to meet the knowledge requirement of the statute, the State is required to prove that a defendant has been given notice of the required court dates.

Cardwell, 155 Wn. App. at 47.

Under the <u>Kjorsvik</u> test, if an element is missing, prejudice is presumed and reversal is required. <u>McCarty</u>, 140 Wn.2d at 425-26. Here, an essential element is missing. The State had to prove that Mr. Aquino was notified of the requirement to appear on January 22, 2015 and March 18, 2015 in Pierce County Superior Court. The information does not convey these requirements. Hence, this Court should reverse both convictions for bail jumping.

- 3. By failing to disclose exculpatory evidence, the State committed misconduct that justified dismissal of the case or, alternatively, suppression of the interrogating officer's testimony.
  - a. The State is required to turn over all material exculpatory evidence to the defense.

The "suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). This rule applies to evidence undermining witness credibility. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 153-154, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1972). Evidence is material when there is any reasonable likelihood that the evidence could affect the jury's judgment. Id. at 154. To obtain relief based on Brady evidence discovered after

conviction, the defendant must show that the new evidence is sufficient to undermine confidence in the verdict. Wearry v. Cain, No. 14-10008, 2016 WL 854158, at \*3 (U.S. Mar. 7, 2016).

Under Washington's Criminal Rules, absent a protective order, the prosecutor must "disclose to defendant's counsel any material or information within the prosecuting attorney's knowledge which tends to negate defendant's guilt as to the offense charged." CrR 4.7(a)(3). The prosecutor's obligation to disclose evidence under the court rule includes "information within the knowledge, possession or control of members of the prosecuting attorney's staff." CrR 4.7(a)(4).

When a prosecutor violates <u>Brady</u> or CrR 4.7(a)(3) and the defendant discovers the violation before conviction, the court rules offer relief. CrR 8.3(b) authorizes the dismissal for governmental misconduct:

The court, in the furtherance of justice, after notice and hearing, may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

CrR 8.3(b). Simple mismanagement is sufficient to show misconduct.

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