COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JOHN AQUINO, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Phil Sorensen

No. 14-1-03964-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
MICHELLE HYER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 32724

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Based on the testimony from Mr. Gardner and Ms. Faucett that the check was identified as fraudulent during the verification procedure, which is always done prior to cashing checks, and that law enforcement was immediately contacted, a rational trier of fact could conclude that defendant was unsuccessful in his attempt to cash the check and thus did not obtain any credit, money, goods, services, or other items of value in exchange for the forged check. Defendant does not challenge the other three elements. Brief of App. 5-9. Viewing the aforementioned evidence in the light most favorable to the State and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, a rational trier of fact could find defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

2. THE CHARGING DOCUMENT WAS SUFFICIENT BECAUSE IT CONTAINED ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGES; THE EXACT DATE AND LOCATION OF THE REQUIRED SUBSEQUENT APPEARANCE WAS NOT AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF THE CHARGE OF BAIL JUMPING.

Charging documents challenged for the first time on appeal are more liberally construed in favor of validity. *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 102, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). The liberally construed standard of review is appropriate when no challenge to the charging document is raised before or during trial because without it, a defendant has no incentive to timely make such a challenge which might only result in an amendment or dismissal and refiling of the charge. *Id.* at 103. Liberally construing the charging document involves consideration of the document as a whole to determine whether the elements "appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document." *State v. Nonog*, 169 Wn.2d 220, 227, 237 P.3d 250 (2010) (*citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105). "A court should be guided by common sense and practicality in construing the language." *State v. Campbell*, 125 Wn.2d 797, 801, 888 P.2d 1185 (1995) (*quoting State v. Hopper*, 118 Wn.2d 151, 156, 822 P.2d 775 (1992)).

An Information is constitutionally sufficient if it includes all the essential elements, statutory and nonstatutory, of a crime. *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995). An "essential

element" is an element whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the act charged. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). The purpose of the essential elements rule is to apprise the defendant of the charges against him allowing him to prepare a defense. *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn.2d 295, 300, 325 P.3d 135 (2014) (*citing Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d at 787).

Defendant bears the burden of showing prejudice by unartful charging language if, when the information is read as a whole, including facts that are implied, it "reasonably apprise[s] an accused of the elements of the crime charged." *Nonog*, 169 Wn.2d at 227 (*citing Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 106, 109).

The mere fact that the State bears the burden of proving a fact at trial does not automatically make that fact an essential element of the crime. See State v. Allen, 176 Wn.2d 611, 628-30, 294 P.3d 679 (2013) (holding, in a felony harassment case, that even though the State bore the burden of proving a "true threat" in order to obtain a conviction, the requirement of a "true threat" was not an essential element of the crime and need not be contained in the charging document); see also State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 22, 31, 93 P.3d 133 (2004) (explaining, in a child molestation case, that even though touching for the purpose of "sexual gratification" must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt to sustain a conviction, it is not an essential element of the crime of child molestation and need not be included in the "to convict" instruction).

Courts have held that the elements of bail jumping were met when the defendant was held for, charged with, or convicted of a particular crime; released by court order or admitted to bail with the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance, and knowingly failed to appear as required. *State v. Williams*, 162 Wn.2d 177, 183-84, 170 P.3d 30 (2007); *State v. Pope*, 100 Wn. App. 624, 627, 999 P.2d 51 (2000); *State v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 132 Wn. App. 622, 632-33, 132 P.3d 1128 (2006).

Knowledge of the specific date of the required subsequent appearance is not an element of the crime of bail jumping. *State v. Carver*, 122 Wn. App. 300, 305, 93 P.3d 947 (2004) (*citing State v. Ball*, 97 Wn. App. 534, 536, 987 P.2d 632 (1999)). In *Carver*, the defendant argued the State failed to prove the knowledge element of bail jumping because the State did not prove the defendant was aware of the precise date of the scheduled hearing. *Carver*, 122 Wn. App. at 305. The court in that case, in rejecting the defendant's argument, relied on its holding in *Ball* that knowledge of the precise date is not an essential element because, "if there were such a requirement: '[t]he defendant could admit knowledge on every previous day but claim to have forgotten about his duty to appear on the hearing day." *Id*.

Defendant raises this issue for the first time on appeal, triggering the liberally construed standard of review.

The charging document contained the language found by courts to sufficiently apprise a defendant of the elements of the charge of bail jumping. The amended information stated:

That JOHN PALACIOS AQUINO, in the State of Washington, on or about the 22nd day of January, 2015, did unlawfully and feloniously, having been held for, charged with, or convicted of Identity Theft in the Second Degree and/or Forgery, a class "B" or "C" felony, and been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court in this state, fail to appear as required, contrary to RCW 9A.76.170(1),(3)(c), and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 5. The wording is identical in counts three and four aside from the date. The date in count four was "18th day of March, 2015." CP 6. The charging document identified the particular crime, identity theft in the second degree and forgery, and alleged a corresponding bail jump violation similarly to that in *Williams*, which was found to be sufficient. CP 5; *Williams*, 162 Wn.2d at 185. The charging document included the nexus between the crime for which defendant was held and the later personal appearance which, as the court in *Pope* pointed out, is implicitly required by the statute for bail jumping. CP 5; *Pope*, 100 Wn. App. at 627.

Additionally, the amended information tracked the language of the applicable statute for bail jumping, RCW 9A.76.170 which states:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state, or of the requirement to report to a correctional facility for service of sentence, and who fails to appear or who fails to surrender for service of sentence as required is guilty of bail jumping.

- (3) Bail jumping is:
- (c) A class C felony if the person was held for, charged with, or convicted of a class B or class C felony.

RCW 9A.76.170(1),(3)(c).

The plain language of the charging document sufficiently and reasonably apprised defendant that he was charged because he failed to appear in a required court appearance subsequent to his release on bail for the crimes of identity theft in the second degree and forgery. This language provides defendant the information necessary to present a defense to the charge of bail jumping, as contemplated by the essential elements rule. The statute proscribing conduct constituting the charge of bail jumping, and from which the language of the charging document was devised, is unambiguous and need not be construed. Gonzalez-Lopez, 132 Wn. App. at 629. Nowhere in the statute or in the relevant case law interpreting the statute, is the implication that the exact date and location of the required, subsequent personal appearance are essential elements. As noted in *Carver* and *Ball*, the State was only required to prove that defendant was aware of an obligation to appear by way of notice of his court date. Because the exact date and location of the required, subsequent appearances are neither express nor implied elements of bail jumping, the charging document was sufficient.

Further, because the bail jumping statute unambiguously contains all of the essential elements of bail jumping and the charging document in this case tracked the language of the statute, defendant fails to show he was prejudiced by the language of the charging document. The charging document sufficiently and reasonably apprised defendant of the elements of bail jumping, which allowed him to prepare a defense.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED
DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER CrR
8.3(b) AND CrR 4.7 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE AT
ISSUE WAS NOT POTENTIAL IMPEACHMENT
EVIDENCE, DEFENDANT WAS AWARE OF ITS
EXISTENCE, AND DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW
HE WAS PREJUDICED.

A trial court's decision on a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Stein*, 140 Wn. App. 43, 53, 165 P.3d 16 (2007). An abuse of discretion exists when a court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *Id.* Dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is permissible only when there has been a prejudice to the rights of the defendant resulting from governmental mismanagement. *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 655, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). "Washington courts have clearly maintained that dismissal is an extraordinary remedy to which the court should resort only in 'truly egregious cases of

mismanagement or misconduct." *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003) (*citing State v. Duggins*, 68 Wn. App. 396, 401, 844 P.2d 441, *affirmed*, 121 Wn.2d 524, 852 P.2d 294 (1993)).

Defendant bears the burden of proving "arbitrary action or governmental misconduct" and a resulting prejudice affecting his right to a fair trial. *Wilson*, 149 Wn.2d at 9 (*citing State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239-40, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)). The purpose of discovery rules is "to prevent a defendant from being prejudiced by surprise, misconduct, or arbitrary action by the government." *State v. Cannon*, 130 Wn.2d 313, 328, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996).

A trial court exercises its discretion when making discovery decisions based on CrR 4.7. *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 826, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). A trial court's ruling on discovery under CrR 4.7 will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of that discretion. *Id.* (*citing State v. Yates*, 111 Wn.2d 793, 797, 765 P.2d 291 (1988)). CrR 4.7 provides in pertinent part:

If at any time during the course of the proceedings it is brought to the attention of the court that a party has failed to comply with an applicable discovery rule or an order issued pursuant thereto, the court *may* order such party to permit the discovery of material and information not previously disclosed, grant a continuance, dismiss the action or enter such other order *as it deems just under the circumstances*.

CrR 4.7(h)(7)(i) (emphasis added).

The State's obligation to disclose is limited to evidence which is material and "within the knowledge, possession, or control of the prosecuting attorney's staff." *Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d at 826; CrR 4.7(a)(4). However, the existence simply of a possibility that the undisclosed evidence might have helped the defendant or affected the outcome of the trial does not make that evidence "material." *Id.* at 828. Mere speculation on the reliability of a witness is not adequate to satisfy the prejudice prong under CrR 8.3(b). *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 659.

a. The video, which was disclosed and admitted in the pretrial hearing, did not contain potential impeachment evidence.

Defendant argues the State mismanaged evidence by failing to disclose a video defendant purports as "tending to show" that Officer Tracy was dishonest. Brief of App. 17. However, defendant has failed to show any factual evidence that Officer Tracy had lied under oath or made a material misrepresentation. There were no records in Officer Tracy's personnel file disciplining him for dishonesty for that incident or any other incident. 2RP 58. The video offered by defendant depicted Officer Tracy's perception of events that transpired with an unrelated defendant. CP 115 EX #1. It was based on this perception and the fact that another viewer of the video may have had a different perception of what transpired, that defendant suggested Officer Tracy is dishonest. However, this suggestion does not make the video "material" or factual in this case any more than

the suggestions by the defendant in *Blackwell* that the officers "might have been racially motivated." *Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d at 828-29 (holding defense counsel's assertion that the arresting officers might have been racially motivated insufficient to establish factual predicate demonstrating the officers' service records contained material information).

After viewing the video, the trial ruled on defendant's motion as follows:

[I]n order for this to be impeachment evidence, it needs to be clear that somebody lied under oath, somebody made a false representation under oath, and I am not going to find, based on the video that I just saw, based on the report that I have read ... I'm not going to find that this officer lied.

[A]ny time there is video, the video is almost always at odds with at least somebody's description of the event. To find that everybody is lying who describes an event different than it appears in a video is, in my judgment, not something that's appropriate, and I'm not going to make that kind of a finding in this case. I don't find that it's potential impeachment evidence.

2RP 62.

The trial court properly found the video did not support a claim that Officer Tracy made a false report or lied under oath and therefore, was not potential impeachment evidence. 2RP 61-62.

b. Defendant was able to adequately address the video as evidenced by his failure to request a continuance.

Defendant demonstrated he was prepared to address the video as alleged impeachment evidence. In fact, he was already familiar with the

video from a separate, previous case, and did not raise the issue or make discovery requests earlier. 1RP 34. As soon as the State was notified, it located the video. 2RP 57. Defendant did not ask for a continuance to address the issue, he simply moved forward with his motion to dismiss. 1RP 34-35; 2RP 50. Defendant had also prepared and scheduled a witness to testify on the matter. 2RP 57-58. Further, defense counsel (1) questioned Officer Tracy about honesty during the 3.5 hearing, (2) admitted the video and issue alleged from it was likely unknown to the prosecutor, and (3) agreed that he (defense counsel) had imputed knowledge of the video. 1RP 15, 34-35; 2RP 50. It is apparent that defendant was well versed in the contents of the video and the manner in which he intended to use the information in the video based on the questions he asked Officer Tracy, requiring no delay in trial to adequately address the video. 1RP 15.

c. <u>Defendant has failed to show he was</u> prejudiced by the video.

Even if the video had been found to be potential impeachment evidence, defendant failed to show he was prejudiced by it because it was available to defendant and did not interfere with his ability to present a defense. It was defense counsel that brought the video to the attention of the court and subsequently moved to dismiss based on the video, or in the alternative, suppress the statements of Officer Tracy. 1RP 34; CP 7-23. The video was not a new fact interjected into the trial; defendant was not

compelled to choose between adequately preparing for trial and waiving his right to a speedy trial, a showing of which would be required to prove prejudice. *State v. Price*, 94 Wn.2d 810, 814, 620 P.2d 994 (1980) (defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that interjection of new facts into the case will compel him to choose between prejudicing the right to a speedy trial and the right to adequately prepare a defense). Defendant has not met his burden to prove he was prejudiced; there was no evidentiary surprise to defendant preventing him from adequately preparing a defense, as demonstrated in the preceding section.

The defendant's rights to a fair trial were not violated because the video at issue was not potential impeachment evidence and defendant was able to adequately address the video regardless; therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's motion to dismiss.

4. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO ADDRESS THE AWARD OF APPELLATE COSTS BECAUSE THE ISSUE IS NOT RIPE; THE STATE HAS YET TO SUBSTANTIALLY PREVAIL AND HAS NOT SUBMITTED A COST BILL TO WHICH DEFENDANT MAY OBJECT.

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